SOCIOECONOMIC RISK AND NEURAL CORRELATES OF WORKING MEMORY IN PRESCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN: AN FNIRS STUDY

A Senior Honors Thesis

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department

of Psychology

University of Houston

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree of

Bachelor of Science

By

Diana A. Montgomery

April 2019

ABSTRACT

Children exposed to early childhood poverty are at increased risk for learning and academic problems. Recent work has shown that poverty may affect neurocognitive systems that support higher level cognition, which may explain increased risk for delays. In this study, we investigated how variability in poverty exposure, based on family income, influences neural function and behavior during a working memory task in children aged 4 to 7 years. Children (n = 25) participated in a spatial working memory task while their DLPFC was monitored using functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). We found that low SES, based on family income, was associated with lower DLPFC activation. This points to one mechanism by which children exposed to poverty are at increased risk for problematic outcomes and has implications for early intervention and prevention.

SOCIOECONOMIC RISK AND NEURAL CORRELATES OF WORKING MEMORY IN PRESCHOOL-AGED CHILDREN: AN FNIRS STUDY

Diana A. Montgomery

APPROVED:

Johanna Bick, Ph.D. College of Liberal Arts and Social Sciences Thesis Director

> Luca Pollonini, Ph.D. College of Technology Second Reader

> > Daniel Price, Ph.D. Honors College Honors Reader

Antonio Tillis, Ph.D.

Dean, College of Liberal Arts and Social Sciences Department of Hispanic Studies

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	5
Materials and Methods	13
Results	23
Discussion	27
References	

List of Tables and Figures

Table 1. Demographics of Families' Annual Income and Income-to-Needs In this Study	. 14
Figure 1. 2019 Poverty Thresholds by Size of Family and Number of Related Children Under	18
Years	15
Figure 2. New Monkey Working Memory Task	. 16
Figure 3. Head Probe Placement with the 10-5 Coordinate System	. 17
Figure 4. Physical Location of DLFPC MNI Coordinates on Homer2 Atlas Viewer_GUI	. 18
Table 2. FNIRS Optodes that Measure the DLPFC	. 18
Figure 5. The Signal Quality Check Panel in Nirsplot	21
Figure 6. The Cardiac Pulsations in a Single fNIRS Channel of a Preschool Child in Homer2.	22
Figure 7. Δ Oxygenated Hemoglobin	24
Table 3. Individual Results of SES's effect on DLPFC Brain Activation	25
Figure 8. Δ Deoxygenated Hemoglobin	26
Figure 9. HbO β Values for the DLPFC Channels Correlated with Reaction Times	27
Table 4. Statistics Between the Correlation of HbO and Reaction Time	27
Figure 10. HbR β Values for the DLPFC Channels Correlated with Reaction Times	28
Table 5. Statistics Between the Correlation of HbR and Reaction Time	28

Acknowledgements

I want to whole-heartedly thank Dr. Johanna Bick for giving me the opportunity to work in her laboratory and expand my knowledge in the field of neuroscience. Without her continuous expertise, guidance, and desire for me to learn, this thesis would not exist.

My appreciation also extends to the graduate students of the Laboratory of Early Experiences and Development. Rebecca Lipschutz's advice and encouragement set the standard for this thesis. I cannot express my gratitude to Xinge Li, who guided me through a challenging topic with her expertise and tireless work. Thank you all for your contributions and good humor.

Associations between socioeconomic risk and neural correlates of working memory in preschool-aged children: an fNIRS study

The Effects of Poverty on Working memory

Numerous studies show that poverty poses a multitude of risk factors to the developing brain, increasing the risk for social emotional difficulties and poor academic outcomes (Jensen, 2013; Blair, 2016; Hair, Hanson, Wolfe, & Pollak, 2015). It has been proposed that poverty and associated risks have a negative impact on the development of a core set of skill involving in executive functioning, which are key for academic success (Hanson et. al, 2012; Moriguchi & Shinohara, 2019). An emerging line of work has revealed that poverty shapes underlying brain systems that sub serve executive functions, which may serve as a mechanism driving associated behavioral alterations.

Research over the past decade has converged on the idea that that poverty has a lasting impact on neurodevelopmental trajectories (Farah, 2017). Working memory, or the ability to hold and manipulate information in one's mind, is a key affected domain. Research on older children shows that working memory is impaired in children who are exposed to adverse/traumatic events that are presumed to be correlated with socio-economic risk factors. For example, Tine (2014) compared working memory performance among children with low-(SES) to children with high-SES. Each student completed four computerized and randomized working memory tasks that lasted for a total of 30 minutes. Results revealed that low-SES children showed working memory deficits compared to their high-SES counterparts, specifically symmetrical, asymmetrical, verbal and visuospatial working memory deficits.

The impact of poverty on working memory extends even into adulthood. Some evidences suggest that these long-term effects are due to chronic stress exposure (Evans & Schamberg, 2009). Evans and Schamberg used allostatic load (an index of cumulative wear and tear, or chronic stress, on the body due to repeated physiological responses to an environment) to measure chronic stress in children and found that the greater the time growing up in poverty, the greater the reduction in young adult's sequential working memory (2009).

Although less studied, some work suggests that poverty affects the underlying neural systems that subserve working memory. Work from animal studies has provided some insight into how poverty and socio-economic risk influences key brain regions that subserve working memory. A study with male rats showed that chronic stress significantly altered the morphology of neurons in the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC; Cook & Wellman 2004, Garrett & Wellman, 2009). Furthermore, dendritic morphology of the mPFC is particularly sensitive to stress (Brown et al., 2005) and it was found that the pre frontally mediated behaviors in the male rats were altered (Liston et al., 2006).

Findings from human work mirror more basic effects discovered in animal work. For example, Farah and her colleagues' study on poverty and its association with neurocognitive development found SES to be significantly related to different cognitive systems specifically, the lateral prefrontal cortex and working memory (2017). Kindergarten-aged children with low SES were given a behavioral task designed to tax the working memory system. Their results, compared to middle-SES children, showed that middle-SES children had a more developed working memory. MRI scans showed regional gray matter volumes of low-SES children was 3 to 4 percent below the developmental norm and this correlated to their below- average scores on standardized tests (Hair et al., 2015). Another MRI study showed that cumulative life stress and spatial working memory were related to a smaller volume of prefrontal gray and white matter in the PFC (Hanson et al., 2012). Reduced gray matter volume in the frontal cortex of children in poverty were found in another cross-sectional study that examined 389 children aged 4-22 years of age (Blair & Raver, 2016). Recently, Wijeakumar and her colleagues conducted an fNIRS study on low-SES children in rural India. 4-48-month-old children performed a working memory task while their brain activity was recorded. Low brain activity in the left frontal cortex was associated with low maternal education and poorer distractor suppression (2019). Although this study was conducted in a different economic environment, Wijeakumar and her colleagues collected data from a population where human development and nutrition indices of the location in India are similar to the average UP index (2019).

Some work has focused on identifying environmental risk factors that mediate links between poverty and neurocognitive problems. Risks associated with poverty include lack of proper nutrition, pollutant exposure (Farah et al., 2006) and the physical burden of chronic stress (Wadsworth, Raviv, Reinhard, Wolff, Santiago, & Einhorn, 2008; Evans & Schamberg, 2009). Guo and Harris (2000) have shown that limited cognitive stimulation (defined in their study as a lack of books, magazines, exposure to reading, and enriching experiences) are among the key factors that explain neurocognitive risk.

Working Memory - What is it?

Working memory is the ability to temporarily store information in order to perform cognitive tasks such as solving math problems, reading, or completing any activity that requires memory-in-action (Baddely, 1983). Working memory plays a crucial role in cognition as it works and develops in frontal cortical areas and subcortical structures (Eriksson, Vogel, Lansner, Bergström, & Nyberg, 2015). Although working memory develops during infancy, its abilities expand in childhood as it begins to integrate with other executive functions (Perlman, 2015).

The beginnings of working memory development can be seen in infants as early as 6.5 months based on Káldy and Leslie's (2005) variation of Piaget's A-not B task. In this experiment, infants became familiarized with two differently shaped objects in the middle of a stage repeatedly. The objects were then moved to the sides of the stage and the side that the two objects were presented on was alternated from trial to trial. Results of this experiment show that 6.5-month-old infants could associate featural information in order to identify the objects by location, but only with the last hidden object (Káldy and Leslie, 2005).

Children's processing speed of working memory increases along with their age (Cowan, 2017) and this can be seen through numerous behavioral studies (Zoelech, Seitz, & Shumann Hengteler, 2005; Cowan, AuBuchon et al., 2010; Tam, Jarrold, Baddeley, & Sabatos-DeVito, 2010); Vogel, McCollough, and Machizawa (2005); Cowan, Saults, and Clark (2015). In addition, researchers have used neuroimaging to study neural development in young children. Buss and his colleagues were one of the first to use functional near infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) to measure working memory development in young children (2014). During the study, three- and four-year-old children watched shapes on a screen and detected any change in shapes while their cortical activity was monitored by fNIRS. Significant activation was shown in the left frontal parietal regions in both groups of children during the activity but four-year-old's showed higher activation than the three-year-old's. Another fNIRS study like this was conducted with children aged 3-7 years and they had found significant activation in the LPFC (Perlman, Huppert, & Luna, 2015). Increased LPFC activation and accuracy was positively correlated with age as well. A longitudinal study used MRI to detect neural changes in the working memory of

children aged 8-22 years (Tammnes, et al., 2013). They found that working memory improvement was related to cortical volume reduction in bilateral prefrontal and posterior parietal regions. Cohen's fMRI study of working memory development in children aged 9-11 showed increased dorsolateral prefrontal activation during a working memory task.

The Relationship Between the Prefrontal Cortex and Working Memory

It has been long established that the prefrontal cortex is a core brain region that supports working memory. In 1936, Jacobsen first showed that bilateral prefrontal lesions caused severe impairment in the delayed-response performances of rhesus monkeys. Further studies with lesions of the lateral prefrontal cortex (LPFC) resulted in significant and long-lasting deficits in delayed response tasks in both monkeys and humans (D'Esposito, 2004; Antonio &, Wallis, 2006).

Advances in neuroimaging have made it possible to examine prefrontal cortex activation during working memory tasks humans. Courtney et al. were able to identify that spatial working memory is heavily dependent on the superior frontal sulcus (a region in the prefrontal cortex) using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (1998).

Cumulative research from fMRI studies implicate the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) as sub serving working memory abilities. For example, the DLPFC has shown to be involved in performance on a delayed response task in adults (Courtney et al., 1998; Zarahn et al., 1999; Jha & McCarthy, 2000; Sakai et al., 2002). It has also been theorized that DLPFC assists in the maintenance of information (Curtis & D'Esposito, 2003).

The LPFC has been shown similar activity during working memory processes in preschool-aged children as in adults indicating that the LPFC has already developed enough to

use this cognitive function (Tsujimoto et al., 2004). A longitudinal study studied the cortical and subcortical thickness of participants aged 8-22 and demonstrated that improved working memory was related to LPFC volume reduction at a 2-year follow up (Tamnes et al., 2013).

Neural Correlates of Working Memory in Pediatric Populations

Although there are numerous studies on older children and adults, there are only a small number of studies that have examined neural correlates of working memory in preschool age children. This is partly due to methodological limitations and the fact that there is a need for child friendly approaches for examining task related brain function in children (Perlman, Huppert & Luna, 2015). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) presents a solution to this methodological dilemma, in that it is a non-invasive, child-friendly neuro-imaging approach.

FNIRS. FNIRS is a recently developed neuroimaging method that captures the hemodynamic properties of the brain by assessing both oxygenated (HbO), deoxygenated (HbR), and total hemoglobin (HbT) changes in the cerebral cortex with near-infrared light (Pinti et al., 2015). The increased blood flow evoked by neural activity in a brain region usually results in an increase in HbO and a decrease in HbR. Previous studies have shown that HbO and HbR responses from fNIRS are temporally and spatially correlated with the Blood Oxygen Level-Dependent signal (BOLD) obtained from fMRI (Jahani et al., 2017; Huppert et al., 2006).

There are several advantages associated with fNIRS. First, it is relatively robust to motion artifacts in comparison to functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). This makes it well suited for examining brain activation in high risk or pediatric population who are likely to engage in excessive motion (Wilcox & Biondi, 2016). Second, the localization of responses

allows for more accurate identification of the areas from which cortical responses were taken (Huppert, Barker, Schmidt, Walls, & Ghuman, 2017).

In the past decade, there has been an increase in the application of FNIRS to assess brain function in typically developing children. Perlman and her colleagues were able to show increased activation in the lateral prefrontal cortex (LPFC) with fNIRS during spatial working memory tasks in children aged 3 to 7 years of age (FIX THIS CITATION 2015). They had also found that increase in LPFC activation, response speed, and accuracy were positively correlated with age (Perlman, Huppert & Luna, 2015). Another fNIRs study compared pre-frontal activation in low-SES and middle-SES children in Japan during a Dimensional Change Card Sort (DCCS) task (Moriguchi & Shinohara, 2019), which requires working memory and cognitive flexibility. Low-SES children showed no significant activation in the PFC during the task when compared to middle and high-SES children, further revealing the direct relation between SES and the functional development of the PFC (Moriguchi & Shinohara, 2019). The relationship between working memory performance and cortical activation is important to understand because it can be used to measure intellectual fatigue within cognitive processes (Ogawa, Kotani, & Jimbo 2014).

Present Study Aims and Hypotheses

It is well established that poverty negatively affects developing working memory in children. However, given challenge children present for neuroimaging techniques, there is limited understanding how SES challenges functional neural activity associated with executive functions (i.e. working memory). During preschool, executive functions and their underlying neural systems begin developing rapidly (Gilchrist, Cowan, Naveh-Bejamin, 2010). Measuring brain function at an early point in development, when working memory functions are emerging, has relevance for understanding the underpinnings of problematic cognitive development in this young population.

To study this important topic, we used fNIRS to examine how early life poverty exposure shapes neural function associated with working memory in preschool-aged children. An advanced and novel spatial working memory task called "New Monkey Task" was used while we monitored their frontal and temporal cortex using fNIRs as it is a suitable instrument for self-reliant assessment of working memory in preschool-aged children. This working memory task was similar to Perlman and her colleagues from their previous working memory study (2015). We hypothesized that the most activation will occur in the lateral prefrontal cortex during the working memory task given previous literature indicates lateral prefrontal cortex is a key region for working memory. Our final hypothesis was that there will be a significance between reaction time and brain activation in the lateral PFC. Thus, our questions for this study were:

Question 1:

Does poverty exposure, based on family income, correlate with the brain activation from the working memory task?

Question 2:

Do activation patterns correlate with reaction time as part of this task?

Materials and Methods

Participants of this study (N =25) consisted of low-socioeconomic status and families of multiple ethnicities ($Mean_{age} = 5.24$ years, $SD_{age} = 0.84$) from the greater Houston area. Families were recruited from organizations and agencies that serve low income families including WIC centers,

Head Start Programs. Because 39% of the Houston population speaks Spanish only (Houston Population), we recruited both native English speakers and Spanish speakers. 9 male and 16 female children were identified as 32% Caucasian, -36% African American, 56% Hispanic, and 28% other/mixed. All subjects were reported by their parents or guardians to have no history of severe psychiatric diagnoses. Both mothers and children provided written informed consent. All recruitment and experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Houston.

Parental SES status

Parents' SES were calculated using the Income-to-needs ratio. We calculated their annual income based on what the parents reported such as their monthly income and the subsidy they received from other resources. The parents' income was then divided by the poverty threshold for their family size. Figure 1 shows poverty thresholds based off family size and income (U.S. Census Bureau). Table 1 shows the average incomes of the families based off the income-to-needs ratio.

Table 1

 \geq 25,000

25-50,00

50-75.000

75-100,000

100.000+

9

12

4

0

0

			Income-to	-need	
Family					
income	N=25	%	mean	min	max

1.3547

0.3998

2.1097

36

48

16

0

0

Demographics of families' annual income and income-to-need in this study

	R				Related children under 18 years				
Size of family unit	None	One	Two	Three	Four	Five	Six	Seven	Eight or more
One person (unrelated individual):									
Under age 65 Aged 65 and older	13,300 12,261								
Two people:									
Householder under age 65	17,120	17,622							
Householder aged 65 and older	15,453	17,555							
Three people	19,998	20,578	20,598						
Four people	26,370	26,801	25,926	26,017					
Five people	31,800	32,263	31,275	30,510	30,044				
Six people	36,576	36,721	35,965	35,239	34,161	33,522			
Seven people	42,085	42,348	41,442	40,811	39,635	38,262	36,757		
Eight people	47,069	47,485	46,630	45,881	44,818	43,470	42,066	41,709	
Nine people or more	56,621	56,895	56,139	55,503	54,460	53,025	51,727	51,406	49,426

Figure 1. 2019 poverty thresholds by size of family and number of related children under 18 years.

Working Memory Task

In this task, we used a block design to measure participants' working memory. Children sat in front of a computer screen in a sound-attenuated recording chamber. First, task instructions were explained by a research assistant. The child's job was to remember where the monkey hid his bananas. For each trial, the monkey first appeared, holding a bunch of bananas, on one of the 12 objects for two seconds. The monkey then disappeared for two or six-second delay periods, requiring the child to hold the monkey's location in working memory for one of those two times. After the delay periods, red question marks appeared for 3 seconds, prompting the child to touch the tree in which the bananas were hidden. This concluded one trial out of four. Four trials created one block (see Fig. 2). After each test block, a 15-second interval was presented in a clip of the monkey going to sleep. Five block trials and five intervals were presented. Two long and two short delay periods were presented sequentially to create each block. The child needed to

pass one practice block in order to continue to the five test blocks. If the child could not pass the practice block for the second time (3 out of 4 trials correct) they were given a simpler version of this working memory task. A passing score was considered if the child could pass at least one practice block.



Note. A single trial of the working memory task. Participants were instructed to remember the object in which the monkey hid his bananas during the delay period.

Figure 2. New monkey working memory task.

fNIRS Recording during Working Memory Task

Our study was performed with a continuous wave fNIRS system (NIRScout, NIRx Medizintechnik GmbH, Germany) with a sampling frequency of 6.25 Hz. Children were fitted with the appropriately sized fNIRs head caps that were positioned in accordance with the international 10-5 coordinate system with the middle of the probe positioned at Cz (Figure 3). 16 dual tip light sources, that each emitted LED light at 760-nm and 850-nm and 16 detectors that each received the light travelling back from brain tissues were used. One source and one detector formed a channel that measures the hemodynamic responses underneath it. There were 50 channels in our probe. Table 2 displays the channels that measured DLPFC activity for this study (our regions of interest for this study). The MNI coordinates of channels were generated from fOLD, a MATLAB software that arranges probes guided by brain regions-of-interest, and previous fMRI literature, that indicated DLPFC MNI coordinates, were used to verify which coordinates were within the vicinity of the DLPFC. Figure 4 shows a physical display of our DLPFC coordinates in HOMER2 Atlas Viewer software. Sensors and optodes were placed using spring-loaded caps onto a NIRX cap (NIRX). 2.3-meter long fiber optic cables were held by a research assistant in order to prevent its weight from affecting signal quality. The sensors were placed onto an appropriate-sized cap prior to the family arriving.



Figure 3. Head probe placement with the 10-5 coordinate system.



Note: A display of DLPFC MNI coordinates (pink pinpoints) in our study (HOMER2_UI). *Figure 4.* Physical locations of DLPFC MNI coordinates on HOMER2 Atlas Viewer_GUI

Table 2

			MNI	
Channel			coordinates	
number	Source number	Detector number	(x, y, z)	
21	6 (FFC1h)	9 (AFF1h)	-8, 38, 48	
19	2 (FFC5h)	5 (FFC3h)	-43, 22, 39	
23	7 (AFp1)	4 (AFF5h)	-26, 58, 14	
6	2 (FFC5h)	4 (AFF5h)	-45, 35, 23	
4	2 (FFC5h)	1 (FFT7h)	-45, 28, 22	
42	13 (AFF6h)	15 (FFC6h)	46, 36, 26	
38	12 (FFC4h)	11 (FFC2h)	24, 26, 54	
41	13 (AFF6h)	10 (AFp2)	26, 58, 15	
45	14 (FCC6h)	15 (FCC6h)	55, 17, 31	
27	8 (AFF2h)	10 (FFC2h)	15, 47, 54	

FNIRS optodes that measure the DLPFC

After cap placement, we used a 3D digitizer (Polhemus Inc., VT) to obtain the 3D locations of all the optodes placed on the child's head. The child was then asked to go into the

sound chamber and sit at a child sized desk. Before actual data recording, the signal was calibrated and adjusted using NIRStar (NIRx) and PHOEBE (placing headgear optodes efficiently before experimentation) (Pollonini, Bortfield, & Oghalai, 2016). NIRStar showed the detector gains after calibration, while PHOEBE measures and displays, in-real time, signal quality indicated by scalp coupling index (SCI). After making sure the signal quality was ideal (no excessive noise or motion artifacts), data recording began. During the task, we collected fNIRS data at a sample rate of 6.25 Hz through NIRSstar and used PHOEBE to monitor real-time signal quality among all optodes. Reaction time and responses were automatically recorded after each response by the software presenting the task.

Children completed the task using a touchscreen monitor. A research assistant remained next to the child in order to hold the fiber cables, read the task's directions, and make sure that the child understood the task. Children were visually recorded as they completed the working memory task. The total setup time took around 10 to 15 minutes.

Quality Check of fNIRS Data

Raw fNIRS data was quality checked through a real-time signal quality check and an offline signal quality check to minimize false readings during analyses and to maximize data quality. Since children present a challenge when attempting to obtain consistent quality data, we inspected all channels. These checks were used to see if strong cardiac pulsations can be detected in both wavelengths of the signal. The frequency of the cardiac pulsation of young children is usually between 1.5-2 Hz and it can even be seen in real-time signal with the naked eye. For real-time signal quality check, we monitored our channels through PHOEBE. One of the most robust indicators for a good fNIRS signal in this software is the cardiac pulsations (0.5-2.5 Hz). If the

cardiac pulsations from an fNIRS channel can be identified, it indicates an ideal connection between the optodes. We can thus successfully measure the physiological changes of our subjects because the channel has an ideal signal to noise ratio (SNR).

Visual inspection of the raw signal was also used to check the signal quality. Cardiac pulsation was observed in each channel to ensure quality signal before the experiment. Subsequently, we used Nirsplot, a MATLAB GUI (graphical user interface) developed by co-I, Dr. Luca Pollonini, to assess if the cardiac pulsations, which are indicated by two indices, i.e., scalp coupling index (SCI) and its peak power, were strong in the fNIRS raw signal offline. If a channel met both criteria, then it was considered an ideal channel and kept in the raw signal. Otherwise, it was pruned from the raw signal. The channels that are pruned were excluded from further processing (Fig. 5).

We first filtered the raw signal with a bandpass filter to keep the cardiac bandwidth (0.5-2.5 Hz). Our raw signal consisted of two wavelengths (760-850 nm) that supposedly contained cardiac pulsations within the cardiac bandwidth so they correlated well if the signal was ideal. The two wavelengths were cross correlated within the cardiac bandwidth (0-1) and indicated our SCI (the empirical threshold was set at 0.8). Some wavelengths correlated due to motion artifacts (MA) which provided us a false positive. In order to combat this, we complemented the SCI with peak power (empirical threshold set at 0.1) in order to reduce the false positive rate. An adequate signal would have both, a high SCI and peak power values, whereas a false positive would have a high SCI but a low peak power.

Nirsplot then captured the time course of our experimental blocks and a 5-sec window was selected for individual signal inspection based on the two indices. An empirical threshold (ranging



from 0 to 1) determined if each channel was considered acceptable (Fig 5). If a channel demonstrated poor quality, it was confirmed with visual inspection using Homer2 (Fig 6).

Note: The x-axis is the threshold (the proportion of good time windows) that can be adjusted. The y-axis is the channel. A channel with ideal signal was represented by a green bar, while a channel with poor SNR was indicated by a grey bar or a blank line.

Figure 5. The signal quality check panel in Nirsplot



Figure 6. The cardiac pulsations in a single fNIRS channel of a preschool child in Homer2

fNIRS Data Analyses

After the signal quality check, Analysis of fNIRS data was collected using fNIRS Brain AnalyzIR Toolbox (Huppert, 2018), an open source software implemented in MATLAB (MathWorks, Natick, MA). Pre-processing consisted of converting to optical density and sequentially to HbO (oxygenated hemoglobin) and HbR (deoxygenated hemoglobin). In the firstlevel statistical analysis, the data was then regressed using an auto-regressive whitened robust regression model that reduces the false-discovery rate via removal of serial correlations by motion artifacts, physiological changes and drifts as described in Barker et al. (2013). We used this model to construct a regression model (see equation 1) where Y = measurement vector, X =design matrix, W is the pre-whitening matrix that is applied to both the left and right sides of Eq. (1), $\beta =$ estimated and combined weights of the regressors and ε is the residual error. Singlesubject results consisted of running one-sample t-test q<0.05) (on auto-regressive model stats, producing individual β -values and the *p*-values that indicate the significance. In other words, the *p*-value indicates if the brain activation in a single channel is significant.

$$W \bullet Y = W \bullet X \cdot \beta + W \bullet \varepsilon \tag{1}$$

For group-level analysis, we conducted a mixed-effects model (see equation 2) to detect the effect of SES on the brain activation elicited by the working memory task, where y is the beta values of all channels among all subjects, the fixed effects factor X is the SES and β is the unknown vector of it that we estimate, the random effects factor Z is the subject IDs and μ is the unknown vector of it that we estimate and ε is the residual error.

$$Y = X \cdot \beta + Z\mu + \varepsilon \tag{2}$$

using

'beta ~ -1 +cond'.

Results

Associations between Socioeconomic risk and FNIRS activation patterns

The statistical contrast of group activation patterns for oxyhemoglobin and deoxyhemoglobin during the working memory task is shown in Figure 7. Optical measurements pairs located on the 10-5 coordinate of AFp1 (channel 23), FFC5h (channel 6), AFF2h (channel 27) and AFF6h (channel 42) showed to be significantly affected by SES (P < 0.1) in oxyhemoglobin. This indicated a correlation between brain activation and poverty, based on family income, during the working memory task. Activation in deoxyhemoglobin (Fig. 8) was not significantly affected by SES in any of the regions of interest. Table 3 shows the individual tstatistics and p-values of each DLPFC channel.



Note: Group results of SES effects on brain activation. Line color (under the arrows) indicates the t-statistic of whether the activation is significant or not.

Figure 7. Δ oxygenated hemoglobin

Table 3.

	НЬО β		HbR β	
	values		values	
Channel				
Number	t	р	t	р
21	1.309	0.203	0.556	0.584
19	1.045	0.307	1.834	0.08
23	1.993	0.058	1.1719	0.253
6	2.447	0.022	1.155	0.26
4	1.756	0.092	0.252	0.803
42	4.022	0.001	1.519	0.142
38	1.852	0.077	0.709	0.485
41	1.1945	0.244	1.611	0.12
45	0.98	0.534	0.707	0.487
27	2.23	0.036	2.239	0.035

Individual Results of SES's effect on DLPFC Brain Activation



Note: Group results of SES effects on brain activation. Line color (under the arrows) indicates the t-statistic of whether the activation is significant or not.

Figure 8. Δ deoxygenated hemoglobin

Correlation between SES and reaction time during working memory task

Reaction times in milliseconds were averaged for each participant's test blocks and then correlated with the averaged β values for oxyhemoglobin and deoxyhemoglobin for DLPFC (Fig. 9 and Table 4). We found no significant correlation between these two variables for oxyhemoglobin or deoxyhemoglobin (Fig. 10 and Table 5).



Figure 9. HbO β values for the DLPFC channels correlated with reaction times

Table 4

Statistics between the Correlation of HbO and reaction time

	Reaction	
	Time (MS)	Avg_HbO
Pearson Correlation		0.069
Sig. (2-tailed)		0.745
N		25



Figure 10. HbR β values for the DLPFC channels correlated with reaction times

Table 5

Statistics between the Correlation between HbR and reaction time

	Reaction	
	Time (MS)	Avg_HbR
Pearson Correlation		-0.2
Sig. (2-tailed)		0.337
N		25

Discussion

This study used fNIRS to study associations between socioeconomic risk, based on family income, and brain activation in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) in preschoolers. It also attempted to bridge DLPFC brain activation in 4-7 year-aged children and reaction time on a working memory task together. As predicted, we found that low SES was significantly associated with low activation in both DLPFC hemispheres when children

completed the working memory task. Overall, our study supports the conclusion that low SES has a significant effect on developing working memory. Interestingly, socioeconomic status was not associated with behavioral performance on the task. This offers new information on how environmental risk factors shape key brain during a period of development when working memory is emerging (John et al. 2018; Gathercole, 2004).

Past neuroimaging literature has shown that children exposed to low SES display differential activation patterns in the lateral prefrontal cortex during working memory tasks compared to middle SES counterparts (Farah et al. 2006). More specifically, 4-48-month-old children with low income displayed lower brain activity in the left frontal cortex areas (inferior frontal gyrus and DLPFC) and limited abilities to ignore distracting information in a distractor suppression task (Wijeakumar et al. 2019).

Contrary to expectations, we found no associations between neural activation patterns and behavioral performance, as indicated by reaction time to complete each trial. We hypothesized that the HbO β values would be significantly higher if children took longer to answer questions on the working memory task. Across all participants, we found that most of their reaction times did not vary amongst the different levels of brain activation. 19 of the participants reaction time ranged from 1 second (1000 MS) to 3 seconds (3000 MS) across the HbO range of -30 µm and 15 µm. A potential explanation may be due to how we constructed our analysis between brain activation and reaction time. Our measures of brain activation were averaged across the entire block of trials, whereas our reaction time was quantified for each trial.

Second, it is possible that the practice trials have influenced the children's task performance. Children participated in 4 to 8 practice trials prior to starting the task. Practice trial reaction times were averaged for each participant and compared to the averaged reaction times of their test blocks. We found a strong relationship between the time differences of practice and test blocks (p-value = 0.020). Participants' test reaction time were significantly slower during their practice blocks ($Mean_{practice} = 3586.2$; $Mean_{test} = 2392.2$) This could indicate that the amount of questions in the practice blocks caused our participants to practice enough to improve their reaction times.

Although this study has further investigated the relationship between poverty and prefrontal brain development in young children, there are potential methodological limitations. Our small sample size limited statistical power to detect effects. The infrared light fNIRS emits towards the cortex is sensitive to movement and hair type. Participants with dark hair or complex braided hair may have had reduced signal quality or lack of contact between optodes and scalp.

In this study, we had investigated whether brain activation was affected by SES and if reaction time would be affected by brain activation. There are other developmental behaviors that are heavily associated with working memory that have yet to be investigated with neuroimaging techniques in this study. The development of attention is a major turning point for the development of working memory since it determines how much material can be stored and how it is efficiently used to focus on relevant stimuli (Cowan, 1999). Multiple studies have shown that low-SES children perform more poorly than middle or high-SES children on tasks that call for selective attention (Bradley & Corwin, 2002; Mezzacappa, 2004; Stevens, Lauinger, & Neville, (2009)). In addition, past research has shown that the neural mechanisms of spatial selective attention and memory are linked early in life (Markant and Amso, 2013), indicating the importance of viewing the interactive effects of memory, selective attention, and SES (Markant, Ackerman, Nussenbaum, & Asmo, 2016). Future work should consider examining selective attention with working memory from a neuroimaging standpoint to help us further understand the neural mechanisms of working memory in low SES children.

Conclusions

Our results of this study complemented previous neurodevelopmental studies by using FNIRS to evaluate the impact of child poverty on working memory. We found that SES risk, based on family income, was associated with DLPFC brain activation during a working memory task. This indicates that low income has an early negative effect on frontal development in children as young as 4 years of age, which may be a neurodevelopmental mechanism linking early life adversity with ongoing developmental risk. Furthermore, these data demonstrate innovative analysis methods that are different yet effective, as we used FNIRS data quality checks. In summary, results from our study point to further insight into the multifaceted effects of poverty on the developing brain.

References

- Antonio, H. L. & Jonathan, D. W. (2015). The role of prefrontal cortex in working memory: a mini review. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 9:173. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2015.00173
- Baddley, D. A (1983). Working memory. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B, Biological Sciences*, 302(1110), 311–324. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1983.0057
- Barker, W. J., Aarabi, A. & Huppert, J. T. (2013). Autoregressive model-based algorithm for correcting motion and serially correlated errors in fNIRS. *Biomedical Optics Express*, 4(8), 1366–1379. https://doi.org/10.1364/BOE.4.001366
- Binder, R. J., Melder, A. D., Desai, R., Conant, L, L., & Liebenthal, E. (2005). Some neurophysiological constraints on models of word naming. *NeuroImage*, 27(3), 677-693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.04.029
- Blair, C. & Raver, C. (2016). Poverty, stress, and brain development: new directions prevention and intervention, Academic Pediatrics, *16*(3), S30-S36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2016.01.010
- Bradley, H. R. & Corwy, F. R. (2002). Socioeconomic status and child development. Annual Review of Psychology, 53:371-399. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135233
- Buss, A. T., Fox, N., Boas, D. A., & Spencer, J. P. (2014). Probing the early development of visual working memory capacity with functional near-infrared spectroscopy.
- NeuroImage, 85 Pt 1(01), 314–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.05.034
- Cohen, J. D., Forman, S. D., Braver, T. S., Casey, B. J., Servan-Schreiber, D., & Noll, D. C. (1993-1994). Activation of the prefrontal cortex in a nonspatial working memory task with

functional MRI. *Human Brain Mapping*, *1*(4), 293 304. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.460010407

Courtney S. M., Petit L., Maisog J. M., Ungerleider L. G., Haxby J. V. (1998). An area specialized for spatial working memory in human frontal cortex. *Science* 279, 1347–1351. 10.1126/science.279.5355.1347

Cook, C. S. & Wellman, L. C. (2004). Chronic stress alters dendritic morphology in rat medial prefrontal cortex. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 60(2), 236-248. https://doi.org/10.1002/neu.20025

- Cowan N. (2016). Working Memory Maturation: Can We Get at the Essence of Cognitive Growth? Perspectives on psychological science: *A Journal of the Association for* Psychological Science,
- 11(2), 239–264. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691615621279
- Cowan, N. (2015). The development of memory in childhood. In Cowan, N. (Ed.), *The development of working memory* (pp. 163-201). New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Cowan, N., AuBuchon, A., Gilchrist, A., Ricker, T., & Saults, J. (2011). Age differences in visual working memory capacity: Not based on encoding limitations. *Developmental Science*, 14(5), 1066–1074. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2011.01060
- Cowan, N., Saults, J., & Clark, K. (2015). Exploring age differences in visual working memory capacity: Is there a contribution of memory for configuration? *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 135, 72-85. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2015.03.002
- Cowan et al. (1999). The role of attention in the development of short-term memory: age differences in the verbal span of apprehension. *Child Development*, *70*(5), 1082-1097. doi: 0009-3920/99/7005-0004

- Curtis, C.E. & D'esposito, M. (2004). The effects of prefrontal lesions on working memory performance and theory. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience*, 528–539. doi: 10.3758/CABN.4.4.528
- DeCarlo Santiago, C., Wadsworth, M. & Stump, J. (2011). Socioeconomic status, neighborhood disadvantage, and poverty-related stress: Prospective effects on psychological syndromes among diverse low-income families. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 32(2), 218-230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2009.10.008
- Duncan, G. J., Ludwig, J., & Magnuson, K. A. (2007). Reducing poverty through preschool interventions. *The Future of Children*, *17*(2), 143–160. doi: 10.1353/foc.2007.0015
- Eriksson, J., Vogel, E. K., Lansner, A., Bergström, F., & Nyberg, L. (2015). Neurocognitive architecture of working memory. *Neuron*, 88(1), 33–46. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.09.020
- Evans, G. & Schamberg, M. (2009). Childhood poverty, chronic stress, and adult working memory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *106*(16), 6545-6549.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811910106
- Farah, M. (2017). The neuroscience of socioeconomic status: correlates, causes, and consequences, *CellPress*, 96(1), 56-71. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.08.034
- Farah, M et al, (2006) Childhood poverty: specific associations with neurocognitive development. *Brain Research*, 1110(1), 166-174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2006.06.072
- Gathercole, E. S. (2004). The structure of working memory from 4 to 15 years of age, *Developmental Psychology*, 40(2), 177-190. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.40.2.177

- Garrett, E. J. & Wellman, L. C. (2009). Chronic stress effects on dendritic morphology in medial prefrontal cortex: sex differences and estrogen dependence. *Neuroscience*, *162*(1), 195-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.04.057
- Guo, G. & Harris, M. K. (2000). The mechanisms mediating the effects of poverty on children's intellectual development, *Demography*, *37*(4), 431-447. doi: 10.2307/2648070
- Graves, W, W., Desai, R., Humphries, C., & Seidenberg, R, J. (2010). Binder neural systems for reading aloud: a multiparametric approach. *Cerebral Cortex*, 1799-1815. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp245
- Hair, L. N., Hanson, L. J. & Wolfe, L. B. (2015). Association of child poverty, brain development, and academic achievement. *JAMA Pediatrics*, 69(9), 822–829. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.1475
- Hanson, L. J. et. al. (2012). Structural variations in prefrontal cortex mediate the relationship between early childhood stress and spatial working memory. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 32(23) 7917-7925. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0307-12.2012
- Hollingshead A. (1975). Four Factor Index of Social Status. New Haven, CT: Yale University Department of Psychology.
- HOMER2_UI [Computer software]. (2018). Retrieved from https://homer-fnirs.org/
- Houston Population. US Census 2018 ACS 5-Year Survey (Table S1601) (2019). Retrieved 2019-11-18 from http://worldpopulationreview.com/us-cities/houston/
- Huppert, T., Barker, J., Schmidt, B., Walls, S., & Ghuman, A. (2017). Comparison of group-level, source localized activity for simultaneous functional near-infrared spectroscopy-magnetoencephalography and simultaneous fNIRS-fMRI during parametric median nerve stimulation, *Neurophotonics*, 4(1): 015001. doi: 10.1117/1. NPh.4.1.015001

- Huppert, J, T, Hoge, D, R, Dale M, A., Franceschini A, M., & Boas A, D (206). Quantitative spatial comparison of diffuse optical imaging with blood oxygen level-dependent and arterial spin labeling-based functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Journal of Biomedical Optics*, 11(6), 064018. doi: 10.1117/1.2400910.
- Jacobsen, C. F. (1936). Studies of cerebral function in primates. I. The functions of the frontal association areas in monkeys. Comparative Psychology Monographs, 13, 3, 1–60. Retrieved from https://jamanetwork.com/journals/archneurpsyc/article-abstract/646444
- Jahani, S., Fantana, A. L., Harper, D., Ellison, J. M., Boas, D. A., Forester, B. P., & Yücel, M. A. (2017). fNIRS can robustly measure brain activity during memory encoding and retrieval in healthy subjects. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 9533. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09868w
- Jensen, A. R. (2011). The theory of intelligence and its measurement. *Intelligence*, *39*, 171–177. doi: 10.1016/j.intell.2011.03.004
- Jha, P. A. & McCarthy, G. (2000). The influence of memory load upon delay-interval activity in a working-memory task: an event-related functional MRI study, Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 12(2), 90-105. doi: 10.1162/089892900564091
- Lange-Kuettner, C. (2012). The importance of reaction time for developmental science: What a difference milliseconds make. *International Journal of Developmental Science*, 6(1), 51-55. doi: 10.3233/DEV-2012-11089
- Liston, C. et al. (2006). Stress-induced alterations in prefrontal cortical dendritic morphology predict selective impairments in perceptual attentional set-shifting. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *26*(30) 7870-7874. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1184-06.2006

- Markant, J., Ackerman, L. K., Nussenbaum, K., & Amso, D. (2016). Selective attention neutralizes the adverse effects of low socioeconomic status on memory in 9-month-old infants. *Developmental cognitive neuroscience*, 18, 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcn.2015.10.009
- Markant, J., & Amso, D. (2013). Selective memories: infants' encoding is enhanced in selection via suppression. *Developmental science*, 16(6), 926–940. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12084
- Mezzacappa, E. (2004). Alerting, orienting, and executive attention: developmental properties and sociodemographic correlates in an epidemiological sample of young, urban children. *Child Development*, 75(5), 1373-1386. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004. 00746.x
- Moriguchi, Y. & Shinohara, I. (2019). Socioeconomic disparity in prefrontal development during early childhood. *Scientific Reports*, 9(2585). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39255-6
- NIRx: fNIRS Systems: NIRS Devices. (n.d.). Retrieved January 27, 2020, from https://nirx.net/?gclid=Cj0KCQiAsbrxBRDpARIsAAnnz_PffJxTMlZ2qwncaDmNcpFqQ VsyQ1FHRy9zkzT7x9otV6c-clJceoIaAqb7EALw_wcB
- Nordahl, C. W., Ranganath, C., Yonelinas, A. P., Decarli, C., Fletcher, E., & Jagust, W. J. (2006). White matter changes compromise prefrontal cortex function in healthy elderly individuals. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *18*(3), 418–429. doi:10.1162/089892906775990552
- Perlman, B., S., Huppert, J., T., Luna, & Beatriz. (2015). Functional near-infrared spectroscopy evidence for development of prefrontal engagement in working memory in early through middle childhood. *Cerebral Cortex*, 26(6), 2790-2799. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhv139

- Pinti, P. et al. (2015). Using fiberless, wearable fNIRS to monitor brain activity in real-world cognitive tasks. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, (106) e53336. doi:10.3791/53336
- Pollonini, L., Bortfeld, H., & Oghalai, J. S. (2016). PHOEBE: a method for real time mapping of optodes-scalp coupling in functional near-infrared spectroscopy. *Biomedical optics express*, 7(12), 5104–5119. doi:10.1364/BOE.7.005104
- Sakai, K., Rowe, J. B., & Passingham, R. E. (2002). Active maintenance in prefrontal area 46 creates distractor-resistant memory. *Nature Neuroscience*, 5(5), 479–484. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn846
- Santosa, H., Zhai, X., Fishburn, F., & Huppert, T. (2018). The NIRS Brain AnalyzIR Toolbox. Algorithms, 11(5), 73.
- Stevens, C., Lauinger, B., & Neville, H. (2009). Differences in the neural mechanisms of selective attention in children from different socioeconomic backgrounds: an event-related brain potential study. *Developmental* science, *12*(4), 634–646. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2009.00807.x
- St. John, M, A., Kibbe, M. & Tarullo, A. (2018). A systematic assessment of socioeconomic status and executive functioning in early childhood. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 178, 352-368. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2018.09.003
- Tam, H., Jarrold, C., Baddeley, A., & Sabatos-DeVito, M. (2010). The development of memory maintenance: children's use of phonological rehearsal and attentional refreshment in working memory tasks. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 107(3), 306-324. doi: 10.1016/j.jecp.2010.05.006
- Tamnes K., Walhovd B., Grydeland H., Holland D., Østby Y., Dale M., & Fjell M. (2013).Longitudinal working memory development is related to structural maturation of frontal

and parietal cortices. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 25(10), 1611–1623. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_00434

- Tine, M. (2014). Working Memory Differences Between Children Living in Rural and Urban Poverty. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, *15*, 599-613.
 doi: 10.1080/15248372.2013.797906
- Tsujimoto, S., Yamamoto, T., Kawaguchi, H., Koizumi, H., & Sawaguchi, T. (2004). Prefrontal cortical activation associated with working memory in adults and preschool children: an event-related optical topography study. *Cerebral Cortex*, 14(7), 703-712. doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhh030
- Vogel, E., McCollough, A., & Machizawa, G. (2005). Neural measures reveal individual differences in controlling access to working memory. *Nature*, 438, 500–503. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04171
- Wadsworth, M., Raviv, T., Reinhard, C., Wolff, B., Santiago, D. C., & Einhorn. (2008). An indirect effects model of the association between poverty and child functioning: the role of children's poverty-related stress. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, *12*(2-3), 156-185. https://doi.org/10.1080/15325020701742185
- Wijeakumar, S., Kumar, A., Delgado Reyes, M. L., Tiwari, M., & Spencer, P. J. (2019) Early adversity in rural India impacts the brain networks underlying visual working memory. *Developmental Science*, 22(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12822
- Wilcox, T., & Biondi, M. (2015). fNIRS in the developmental sciences. Wiley interdisciplinary reviews. *Cognitive science*, 6(3), 263–283. doi:10.1002/wcs.1343

- Yarkoni, T., Barch, M, D., Gray, R, J., Conturo, E, T., & Braver, S, T. (2009). BOLD correlates of trial-by-trial reaction time variability in gray and white matter: a multi-study fMRI analysis. *PLOS ONE*, 4(1): e4257. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004257
- Zarahn, E, Aguirre, K. G. & D'Esposito, M. (1999). Temporal isolation of the neural correlates of spatial mnemonic processing with fMRI. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 7(3), 255-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0926-6410(98)00029-9
- Zimeo Morais, G.A., Balardin, J.B. & Sato, J.R. fNIRS Optodes' Location Decider (fOLD): a toolbox for probe arrangement guided by brain regions-of-interest. Science Report, 8, 3341 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21716-z
- Zoelch, C., Seitz-Stein, K. & Schumann-Hengsteler, R. "From rag(bag)s to riches: measuring the developing central executive," in Young Children's Cognitive Development: Inter-Relationships among Executive Functioning, Working Memory, Verbal Ability and Theory of Mind, W. Schneider, R. Schumann-Hengsteler, and B. Sodian, Eds., pp. 39–70, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahwah, NJ, USA, 2005.